          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS,

          8  LIBRARIES And INTERNATIONAL

             INTERGROUP RELATIONS

          9

             -------------------------------x

         10

         11                 October 21, 2004

                            Start:  1:00 p.m.

         12                 Recess: 2:21 p.m.

         13                 City Hall

                            Council Chambers

         14                 New York, New York

         15

                  B E F O R E:

         16

                         JOSE SERRANO

         17                                Chairperson,

         18

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Allan Jennings

         19                                 Domenic Recchia

                                            David Weprin

         20                                 Michael Nelson

                                            Margarita Lopez

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Eduardo Castell

          4  Deputy Comptroller for External Relations

             New York City Office of the Comptroller

          5

             Ken Sylvester

          6  Assistant Comptroller for Pension Policy

             New York City Office of the Comptroller

          7

             Soledad Aguilar Peralta

          8  Justicia Para Nuestras Hijas

          9  Macrina Cardenas de Alarcon

         10  Coco Fusco

             Operacion Digna

         11

             Ariana Stahmer

         12  Amnesty International

             Columbia University Chapter

         13

             Alexander Ward

         14  Business and Human Rights Department

             Amnesty International

         15

             Ami Shah

         16  National Organization for Women (NOW)

             New York City Chapter

         17

             Diana Perez

         18  New York City Women's Human Rights Action Team

             Amnesty International

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Good afternoon.

          3  Thank you all for being here.  My name is Jose

          4  Serrano, and I chair the Committee on Cultural

          5  Affairs, Libraries and International Intergroup

          6  Relations.  Members of this Committee will be coming

          7  in shortly. There are other hearings going on and as

          8  soon as we achieve a quorum, we will go ahead and

          9  vote on the items on the agenda today and we will

         10  then continue with testimony.  So whenever they

         11  arrive, we will take a short pause.  I don't want

         12  anyone to be offended if we stop the action and get

         13  the vote so that we can get these resolutions to the

         14  floor.

         15                 Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen,

         16  and thank you for taking the time to attend today's

         17  hearing of the Committee on Cultural Affairs,

         18  Libraries and International Intergroup Relations.

         19  Today the Committee convenes to consider three

         20  resolutions:  A proposed Resolution 238A, Resolution

         21  Number 395A and Resolution Number 399.

         22                 Resolution Number 238A would decry

         23  the sexual violence and killing of women in Ciudad

         24  Juarez, Mexico over the past 10 years and would call

         25  upon the Comptroller of the City of New York to
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          2  develop and enforce procedures, short of

          3  disinvestment, that ensure that corporations

          4  receiving New York City pension funds respect the

          5  basic human rights of their employees and will call

          6  on the appropriate authorities in Mexico to take

          7  steps to end the killings in Ciudad Juarez.

          8                 The City Council and the City of New

          9  York have had a long and proud tradition of standing

         10  at the forefront to demand social justice and

         11  respect for human rights.  Since the City of New

         12  York is such a large beholder of many of these

         13  companies, we must ensure that our pension dollars

         14  are invested in companies that prove, in their

         15  practices, that they are publicly and socially

         16  responsible beyond their mere business practices.

         17                 We must encourage these companies to

         18  incorporate sound procedures that ensure human

         19  rights are taken seriously and that human rights

         20  violations will not be tolerated even when the

         21  government of a country they conduct business in

         22  ignores those cries for help.

         23                 Resolution Number 395A would denounce

         24  the horrific crimes currently being committed

         25  against the civilian populations in the western

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  region of Darfur and the actions of the government

          3  of Sudan in connection with these crimes.  This is a

          4  resolution that was on the agenda at our last

          5  hearing and we are taking it up again today for a

          6  vote.

          7                 This resolution would further urge

          8  the government of the United States to take

          9  immediate action to support the implementation of a

         10  United Nations multi-national peace-keeping force

         11  and humanitarian relief effort to help put an end to

         12  the reign of terror that exists in that region.

         13                 Finally, the resolution would commend

         14  Congressman Charles Rangel for his efforts to bring

         15  this issue to the forefront.

         16                 I would like to add that I am proud

         17  that the City, proud of the City Council for coming

         18  forward with a strong resolution that urges a much

         19  needed increase in humanitarian assistance for the

         20  Nation of Sudan.  It is critical that the Council

         21  and this Committee examine what is going on in this

         22  area, as well as other issues that deal with racial

         23  discrimination.

         24                 Finally, the Committee will consider

         25  Resolution Number 399 which supports, which would
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          2  support the Berlin Declaration.  A document summary

          3  of the Second International Conference on

          4  anti-Semitism recently held by the Organization for

          5  Security and Co-operation in Europe.

          6                 The resolution will point out that

          7  the Berlin Declaration highlights the steps that

          8  member states have agreed to take to combat

          9  anti-Semitism or other forms of religious or racial

         10  hatred. When you consider that situations like the

         11  one in Sudan continue to exist, documents like the

         12  Berlin Declaration take on extra meaning.

         13                 On September 23rd, the Committee

         14  heard testimony in support of these resolutions and

         15  we will be voting on them today.

         16                 Before I begin, I would like to thank

         17  the Counsel to my Committee, Mari DePedro, sorry,

         18  Mari DePedro and of course, Rick Arbelo.  And I

         19  would like to turn it over to the main sponsor and

         20  author of Resolution 238A, Margarita Lopez, to say a

         21  few comments.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I don't want

         23  more delay in this meeting to begin.  I only want to

         24  open this hearing by saying the following thing.  In

         25  society that understands that the women who
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          2  procreate, they people, it's disposable commodity.

          3  It's a society that will disappear, no question

          4  asked.  The Mexican society, the American society

          5  and the society of the world must understand that

          6  the way that women are being treated today in Sudan,

          7  Mexico is a guarantee to destroy our civilization

          8  and it's time for us to wake up.  Four hundred and

          9  counting women have been murdered in Ciudad, Mexico

         10  as we speak right now.  No one single person has

         11  been detained in regard to this.  This needs to stop

         12  and I have to conclude the dollars of the American

         13  people invested in the maquiladoras in Mexico are

         14  not going to be used or continue to be used to

         15  further more the killing and the assassination of

         16  women in Ciudad Juarez.  We are going to be

         17  responsible investors and today we will hear from

         18  our great Comptroller to tell us what he has found

         19  and how we're going to proceed from Mexico City to

         20  New York City to make sure we help our sisters in

         21  Ciudad Juarez.

         22                 Thank you very much, Council Member

         23  Serrano, for holding this hearing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         25  much, Council Member.
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          2                 The first panel consists of Eddie

          3  Castell and Ken Sylvester, both of the Comptrollers

          4  Office.  You may begin with your testimony and

          5  please state your name as you begin.

          6                 MR. CASTELL: Good afternoon and thank

          7  you Chairman Serrano, Councilwoman Lopez.  Good

          8  afternoon again, thank you very, very much for

          9  conducting these hearings and thank you to the very,

         10  very courageous women from Mexico who are here to

         11  tell their stories.  Your courage invigorates us and

         12  gives us the strength to continue to do what is

         13  right and what needs to be done so thank you.

         14  My name is Eduardo Castell, Deputy Comptroller for

         15  External Relations.  I'm joined at the podium by Ken

         16  Sylvester who is Assistant Comptroller for Pension

         17  Policy.  On behalf of the Comptroller, I'd like to

         18  both read the following testimony and draw the

         19  attention to the report which we have just shared.

         20                 As you who have worked on this issue

         21  know all too well, Ciudad Juarez, Mexico is home to

         22  an on- going human rights crisis.  The city is

         23  located just across the U.S. Border from El Paso,

         24  Texas and has a large concentration of assembly

         25  plants called, maquiladoras, owned by multinational

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  corporations.

          3                 Amenesty International reported that

          4  the profitability of these plants is dependent on

          5  the hiring of cheap labor, most of whom are women.

          6  Since 1993, hundreds of these women have been killed

          7  and countless more have been reported missing.  Many

          8  of the victims lived in remote areas and traveled by

          9  bus, and sometimes walked across unlit waste ground

         10  and streets to and from work in assembly plants in

         11  Ciudad Juarez. A 2002 report issued by the Inter-

         12  American Commission on Human Rights found that

         13  Mexico's response to the killings was and remains

         14  deeply deficient.  Serious safety and security

         15  concerns persist in and around the area's industrial

         16  parks.

         17                 The issue has received attention at

         18  the highest levels of the U.S. Government.  In June

         19  2004, Senators Jeff Bingaman of New Mexico, Kay

         20  Bailey Hutchinson of Texas and Mary Landrieu of

         21  Louisiana introduced a bipartisan Senate resolution,

         22  SR392, condemning the murders, expressing

         23  condolences to the victims' families and setting out

         24  a list of actions for the U.S. State Department to

         25  carry out in support of the Juarez investigations.
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          2                 A similar bipartisan resolution, HR

          3  resolution 466, was introduced in the House of

          4  Representatives by Representative Hilda Solis of

          5  California. Reports even indicate that the topic has

          6  come up in discussions between President Bush and

          7  Mexico's President Vicente Fox.

          8                 However, much work remains to be done

          9  and as we heard earlier today at the press

         10  conference outside, it seems that the Mexican

         11  government persists in ignoring or not responding

         12  adequately to this issue and the killings and

         13  disappearances persist so we need to do much more.

         14  On November 20th, 2003, Councilwoman Margarita Lopez

         15  sent a letter to Comptroller Thompson asking that he

         16  look into this matter.  Our office initiated an

         17  investigation to find out how many companies, in

         18  which New York City pension funds invest, own

         19  facilities in Ciudad Juarez.  As a result of that

         20  research, Comptroller Thompson issued a letter dated

         21  April 13th, 2004, to more than 100 companies in the

         22  pension fund portfolio which we understood could

         23  operate facilities in Ciudad Juarez.  The

         24  Comptroller requested that these companies provide

         25  our office with an explanation of the specific
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          2  actions they are taking to protect their employees.

          3  Our involvement in this issue and our willingness to

          4  take a leadership role is in line with a long

          5  history of shareholder activism that has been a

          6  hallmark of Comptroller Thompson and the New York

          7  City Comptroller's Office.

          8  The Comptroller's Office has a tradition of

          9  encouraging corporate responsibility in the

         10  companies in which we invest our pension dollars.

         11  Comptroller Thompson's predecessor, Comptrollers

         12  Golden, Holtzman and Hevesi, each took an activist

         13  approach in their roles as custodians of the City's

         14  pension funds.

         15                 New York City Comptroller and the

         16  Trustees of the pension systems have shared the

         17  common belief that as fiduciaries, they must ensure

         18  that the corporations in which they invested posed

         19  minimal reputational risks to investors, and

         20  Comptroller Thompson has embraced and advanced that

         21  belief.

         22                 For example, Comptroller Thompson and

         23  the Trustees are leading a shareholder campaign

         24  urging U.S. Companies who are doing business in

         25  rogue nations to stop doing so.  As a result of the
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          2  pressure brought by the Comptroller's office,

          3  Conoco-Phillips has agreed to end it's dealings with

          4  those nations that sponsor terrorism.  We are

          5  continuing efforts to press other companies who

          6  continue to do business in rogue states.  This kind

          7  of irresponsible behavior threatens the very

          8  viability of the companies in which we invest.  As

          9  shareholders in these companies, we must take the

         10  long view, even if and especially when management

         11  does not.

         12                 Our reasons are as practical as they

         13  are idealistic.  The Comptroller believes strongly

         14  that corporations that conduct business in an

         15  irresponsible manner, either by engaging in

         16  discrimination or polluting the environment,

         17  mistreating employees or doing business in rogue

         18  nations pose enormous risk to investors. Comptroller

         19  Thompson believes that investors have tremendous

         20  power and responsibility to change corporate

         21  cultures.  There is a simple but persuasive logic to

         22  this approach.  A company that is working to build

         23  long term shareholder value by including in it's

         24  business plan responsible economic, environmental

         25  and social behavior makes a wiser investment than
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          2  one that does not.  There is ample evidence to

          3  suggest that companies that take this approach

          4  provide better returns to shareholders over time

          5  than those that don't.  As long term investors,

          6  selling our shares in these companies is simply not

          7  a viable option but attempting to encourage

          8  companies in which we invest to behave responsibly

          9  is.

         10                 That is why the Comptroller has asked

         11  companies, which operate in Ciudad Juarez in the

         12  pension fund's retirement portfolio, to provide him

         13  with a report on the security they provide their

         14  employees.

         15                 The accompanying report, which I

         16  believe you have and we have distributed should have

         17  before you, lays out the responses in detail.  Out

         18  of the companies that we contacted, 43 companies

         19  responded they had no facilities in the area of

         20  Ciudad Juarez, 31 companies disclosed having

         21  facilities in the area and 29 companies failed to

         22  respond.  The number of workers at facilities ranged

         23  from a mere few to many thousand.  For example, one

         24  facility employed 5,000 workers.  Of those companies

         25  that responded, 31 companies with facilities in the
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          2  Ciudad Juarez area listed actions they have taken to

          3  provide security at their facilities.

          4                 A majority of companies reported that

          5  private bus transportation is provided for workers

          6  to and from work and that criminal background checks

          7  are performed prior to hiring bus drivers.  A few

          8  companies responded that they have taken steps to

          9  ensure that female workers are not left alone and

         10  that male employees are the last to be dropped off.

         11                 In some cases, bus routes have been

         12  modified to allow for workers to be picked up and

         13  dropped off as close to their homes as possible.

         14  Some companies reported that bus drivers have been

         15  trained to watch for suspicious activities and that

         16  safety seminars are provided to female employees.  A

         17  majority of companies also reported that their

         18  facilities are secured with closed- circuit

         19  surveillance and are monitored and patrolled by

         20  armed security officers.  One company reported that

         21  it provides breakfast, lunch and dinner for all

         22  workers.  Another reported that it has ceased

         23  distribution of cash payments to workers at it's

         24  facility and has instituted direct pay deposits to

         25  employee bank accounts.  I believe why it's
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          2  worthwhile mentioning some of that is to illustrate

          3  that companies can take actions to improve their

          4  employees and some of those that are taking those

          5  actions should be commended.  As a matter of fact,

          6  it's not in the testimony but there were two

          7  companies who, in response to our letter came in to

          8  see us and acknowledged that they could be doing

          9  more and after some conversations, have initiated

         10  further activities.  Those are Xerox and Johnson and

         11  Johnson so there is the potential to do a lot that

         12  is viable for these companies as employers and

         13  certainly responsible for them as far as taking care

         14  of their employees.

         15                 While we are gratified by the many

         16  responses that we have received, we are at this time

         17  unable to provide further verification of these

         18  company's actual efforts.  Some of the companies in

         19  which we invest have detailed substantial and

         20  responsible measures that they have undertaken.

         21  Some have provided unsatisfactory responses, and

         22  most troubling, some have refused to respond.  We

         23  are deeply disappointed by this lack of cooperation

         24  and the failure requires us to take additional

         25  measures.
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          2  The fund's legacy of shareholder activism demands

          3  that we leverage the full force of our rights as

          4  investors and take appropriate action as

          5  Councilwoman Lopez so eloquently stated.  The

          6  Comptroller sought and received approval from the

          7  Trustees of the City's five pension funds to submit

          8  a resolution to at least two companies, Ford Motor

          9  Company and Hewlett Packard, that have not provided

         10  a response to our inquiries.

         11                 This resolution asks the Board of

         12  Directors to review each companies operations in

         13  Ciudad Juarez and address the adequacy of corporate

         14  security measures in that area.

         15                 We chose these two companies because

         16  both maintain large operations in Ciudad Juarez.

         17  The New York City pension funds own 6.7 million

         18  shares in Ford worth approximately $84.9 million and

         19  9.8 million shares in Hewlett Packard worth

         20  approximately $178.9 million.  We intend to submit

         21  this resolution to these companies in the coming

         22  weeks.  If the companies agree to place the

         23  resolution before investors, shareholders will have

         24  the opportunity to vote on them sometime early next

         25  year.
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          2                 Comptroller Thompson firmly believes

          3  that being, by being good corporate citizens, we can

          4  ensure the safety of corporate employees and also

          5  enhance the performance of our investors.  The

          6  Comptroller is fully committed to this issue and

          7  intends to do whatever it takes to ensure that these

          8  companies provide shareholders with a thorough

          9  accounting of what they are doing to assure the

         10  safety of their employees.  It is clear that further

         11  work needs to be done and we stand with you, the

         12  Comptroller's office and Bill Thompson as

         13  Comptroller, in particular, we stand with you to

         14  continue these efforts to do it's part.

         15  Thank you very much and Ken Sylvester and I stand

         16  ready to answer any of your questions and thank you

         17  again for raising this issue to the public awareness

         18  that it demands.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         20  much Eddie Castell and many thanks to Comptroller

         21  Thompson for his continued activism, his continued

         22  leadership in finding ways to really get to the

         23  heart of the matter and hit people where it hurts,

         24  in the pockets when they need to so before I

         25  continue, I want to mention that we've been joined
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          2  by Council Member Mike Nelson, who happens to be the

          3  author of one of our resolutions here today,

          4  resolution number 399 and also by a member of our

          5  Committee, two members of our Committee now David

          6  Weprin, also Chair of Finance Committee and Dominic

          7  Reccia, a valued member of this Committee.

          8  Once we get one more member of the Cultural Affairs

          9  Committee, we will vote on our issues today.

         10  Council Member Lopez.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you for

         12  your testimony. I must tell you, I'm not surprised

         13  about the action that the Comptroller took on this.

         14  I knew that when I sent the letter as soon as you

         15  guys receive it, that you would immediately would

         16  look into this because I know the history and the

         17  commitment to human rights that the Comptroller

         18  himself have (sic), not speaking of you personally.

         19  I knew that this issue would be given full attention

         20  and I thank you for that and I am very pleased by

         21  the actions that you are ready to take.  It's

         22  precisely with this in mind that I wrote that letter

         23  because I feel and I believe that our money should

         24  not be used for this kind of activities.  I want to

         25  ask you, when the companies who respond to you,
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          2  responded to you, that they responded to you as main

          3  companies or subsidiaries of other companies?

          4                 MR. CASTELL: I'll have Ken help me

          5  out in answering this but we targeted the large

          6  companies which are where we're invested.  We did

          7  not look at some of the smaller subsidiaries but the

          8  large companies where we hold pension funds.  I'll

          9  let Ken provide some more detail on the process and

         10  while I do have the opportunity, I do want to say

         11  that, I want to commend Ken Sylvester and his office

         12  for the work that they do.  The Comptroller has lead

         13  the charge on a lot of these issues on environmental

         14  rights, human rights, civil rights issues, and I get

         15  to play messenger and the Comptroller is the leader

         16  but Ken and his shop deserve a lot of credit for the

         17  work that they do and I want to publicly acknowledge

         18  that.  Ken, if you could provide some response.

         19                 MR. SYLVESTER: The Comptroller sent

         20  the letter to the Chair and CEO of the companies on

         21  this issue.  We did not write to subsidiaries.  We

         22  sent it to the headquarters, Chair and CEO of the

         23  companies.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then, right

         25  now, the Comptroller doesn't know if many of the
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          2  companies in there, perhaps, are subsidiaries of the

          3  biggest companies that perhaps we are investing.

          4  That is a possibility?

          5                 MR. SYLVESTER: Well, what we did, we,

          6  there's an organization in Washington called

          7  Investor Responsibility Research Center --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

          9                 MR. SYLVESTER: -- It does research

         10  for investors in the corporate community on the

         11  activities of corporations.  We contacted them and

         12  they provided us a list of companies that their

         13  research concluded were doing business in

         14  maquiladoras in Ciudad Juarez.  Based on that

         15  information, we then went to our portfolio to

         16  identify the companies that appeared on the list to

         17  see whether or not we were holding shares of stock

         18  in these companies.  With that information, the

         19  Comptroller then wrote to the Chair and CEO of the

         20  companies that, in which we hold stock that,

         21  reportedly are doing business in Ciudad Juarez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I see.  By any

         23  chance, did you ask, from the companies, if they

         24  have intervened with the government of Mexico, in

         25  order for the Governor of Mexico to create a more
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          2  safety environments for all of these women that go

          3  back and forth from work?

          4                 MR. SYLVESTER: No, we did not ask

          5  them if they did any kind of collaboration with the

          6  government per se but in some of the responses, some

          7  of the companies indicated that they collaborated

          8  with some maquiladoras associations that work with

          9  the police organizations down there and so on.  Some

         10  companies, a few of them, gave that in their

         11  response but none indicated that there is any real

         12  effort to work with the government of Mexico on this

         13  problem.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then we don't

         15  know, at least, we can say that we don't know if the

         16  government of Mexico has approached the companies at

         17  least to try to create that kind of association to

         18  defend and protect the workers, at least we can say

         19  that.

         20                 MR. SYLVESTER: I, we have no record,

         21  no knowledge of, you know, the government of Mexico

         22  reaching out to corporations to address this issue.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Will the

         24  Comptroller be able to look into this to see what is

         25  the partnership offered by the government in regard
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          2  of stimulating, right, and protecting, in many ways,

          3  the investment that the investors, for example, from

          4  the pension fund that we have, in regard, of not

          5  putting in danger these women, protecting the

          6  workers, creating an environment that is healthy for

          7  them.  Will the Comptroller be able to found further

          8  information in regard to that item and see how the

          9  government of Mexico is creating a better

         10  environment for these companies to continue to be

         11  there?

         12                 MR. CASTELL: We can certainly try.

         13  We can certainly try to ask the questions and

         14  although our, our focus was on the companies

         15  themselves for two reasons basically.

         16                 One is, I believe, our leverage, you

         17  know, with the government, if they're not responsive

         18  to the people in their own state, if they're not to

         19  international rights organizations, I feel that our

         20  leverage, certainly we can add our voice to the

         21  chorus and we will not hesitate to do so but we felt

         22  that our leverage there isn't the same as our

         23  leverage with the companies themselves where we have

         24  some shares; and two, we felt that that was the

         25  appropriate place to start because they are
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          2  responsible for their employees safety as well.

          3                 Certainly public safety, on a larger

          4  scale, is a government responsibility, is a public

          5  responsibility, is one of the largest

          6  responsibilities that you as City Council people

          7  handle as well as every elected official in this

          8  very same City but we wanted to make sure we target

          9  our efforts where we thought we had leverage and

         10  where there was a responsibility on the part of the

         11  employers.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The reason I

         13  asked this question is because the same way that I

         14  wrote to the Comptroller to see if the companies

         15  were providing safety for the employees, the

         16  government of Mexico have a responsibility with us

         17   --

         18                 MR. CASTELL: Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: -- In regard of

         20  our investment in those companies that are operating

         21  in there that is creating an economy for the --

         22                 MR. CASTELL: Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: -- The country,

         24  then the reason I asked that question is because I

         25  would like to embody the Comptroller to also look
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          2  into that because it's not just the responsibility

          3  of the companies and also ask the companies to have

          4  protection for those women but it's also the

          5  responsibility of the Mexican government to answer

          6  to us.  Why should we invest our dollars in a place

          7  where the government is not taking care of the

          8  people or the women of that country and is not

          9  providing the appropriate safetyness for them to be

         10  able to go to work and come back home?  Then I don't

         11  know if that would be possible but I think that it's

         12  something that the Comptroller can do, what do you

         13  think?

         14                 MR. CASTELL: Sure, I think it's a

         15  very reasonable, I think it's a good idea.  It's a

         16  reasonable request.  I believe, as I said, we could

         17  certainly lend our voice to the chorus and I believe

         18  one of the things too is, as we indicate in our

         19  testimony, there has been some action.  Although the

         20  bills haven't moved, there has been some activity in

         21  Washington and I believe that one of the things is

         22  as well as writing directly to the Mexican

         23  government, we can, maybe jointly, write to, to

         24  representatives in Washington and ask for their

         25  cooperation to help us in getting responses from,
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          2  from the Mexican government so I believe, absolutely

          3  we can make those inquiries.  We can see what sort

          4  of response we get and I believe we can also think

          5  collectively about where else can we go for, for

          6  additional leverage to get responses to these

          7  questions?  So we're on board.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The last

          9  question I want to ask, I mean the work that the

         10  Comptroller has done here, it expressed clearly to

         11  me the action of the Comptroller is the action of

         12  his statement and in regard to this, I will ask if

         13  the Comptroller will consider to approach the United

         14  Nations on this also because at the level of the

         15  United Nations, this issue has been grazed.  The

         16  same way was raised the issue of apartheid and we

         17  responded very appropriately in the City.  When we

         18  got to a point that when answers were not given to

         19  us appropriately, we went down to the fund, our

         20  investment, and I'm not calling for that here at

         21  this point, I'm only saying that Comptroller can

         22  also be a strong voice for these women in the United

         23  Nation.  Would you consider to, I think it's worth

         24  it bring this report to them, to begin with and I

         25  think it's worth it to bring this report to the
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          2  attention of Washington.  Would the Comptroller

          3  consider to do that?

          4                 MR. CASTELL: Absolutely,

          5  Councilwoman, as I said, I think all these

          6  suggestions are certainly things we would take into

          7  account as we look at what next steps.  As I said,

          8  we view this research as a first step.  We're taking

          9  shareholder actions and I would not rule out the

         10  possibility of any other steps that we take, so

         11  thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you very

         13  much.  I am not going to say that I'm impressed

         14  because I was not expecting less.

         15                 MR. CASTELL: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Only for that

         17  reason I'm not saying that I'm impressed.

         18                 MR. CASTELL: Thank you very much.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Well, I want to

         21  say thanks for this great report.  I think it's a

         22  great first step and Council Member Lopez has

         23  brought up some really good suggestions and we look

         24  forward to moving ahead on these and continuing the

         25  work on this issue and thank you very much for your
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          2  testimony on this panel.

          3                 MR. CASTELL: Thank you again and

          4  thank you for your patience and again thank you for

          5  bringing this issue forward. These are the first

          6  steps in what we know is a long road to try to end

          7  the injustice and the crimes that are occurring in

          8  Ciudad Juarez.  Thank you for your leadership.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         10  Before I call up the next panel, I'll take this

         11  opportunity now that I have a quorum to vote on all

         12  items before the Committee today so I'll ask Billy

         13  Martin to begin the roll.

         14                 COUNSEL: Serrano.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: We're coupling

         16  all three resolutions in one vote.  I vote aye on

         17  all three.

         18                 COUNSEL: Jennings.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I vote aye

         20  on all.

         21                 COUNSEL: Recchia

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:: Aye on all.

         23                 COUNSEL: Weprin.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye on all and

         25  I request to be co-sponsor of 238A.
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          2                 COUNSEL: By a vote of four in the

          3  affirmative, zero in the negative, no abstentions

          4  all items are adopted.  Council members please sign

          5  the Committee reports.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you

          7  members for that. I would like to now call up our

          8  next panel, Soledad Aguilar, Coco Fusco, Macrina

          9  Cardenas.  We have a number of witnesses that we'd

         10  like to get before the Committee while we have time

         11  so I respectfully ask that all witnesses please

         12  limit their testimony as much as possible.

         13                 MS. AGUILAR (Through the

         14  interpreter): Good afternoon, thank you for your

         15  efforts.  My name is Soledad Aguilar. I'm the mother

         16  of one of the victims in Juarez.  We're here because

         17  of the insecurity that we feel in Juarez because of

         18  the number of murders of women that are taking

         19  place.  My daughter was killed in 1995.  She was

         20  going to the doctor with her baby in her arms and

         21  she never came back.  She was found far away in the

         22  valley of Juarez.  She was shot in the back twice.

         23  She was kidnapped.  She was held for three days.

         24  She was raped and then shot to death. The

         25  authorities never used their resources to look for
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          2  her.  She was found by chance by a worker.  We are

          3  now looking for my granddaughter.  She would have

          4  been nine years old yesterday.  This is the struggle

          5  that I have and the struggle of many other mothers

          6  in Juarez because of the climate of impunity that

          7  exists there.  In all of the cases, there is no

          8  proper line of investigation.  The state in which

          9  you find the file on my daughter is the same as the

         10  state of all the other cases.  There is no proper

         11  report on the disappearance of my granddaughter.  It

         12  should have been done at the moment of finding the

         13  body of my daughter.  They considered everything

         14  together, lumped everything together as one single

         15  crime.  There is no file on the disappearance of my

         16  granddaughter and no investigation.  It is extremely

         17  painful for us to see all of these cases mounting

         18  with no proper line of investigation.  Also what

         19  bothers us is the discrimination of the authorities

         20  who suggest that our daughters deserve this because

         21  they provoke these crimes because they wore short

         22  skirts, because they claim that their blouses were

         23  very suggestive and that they were courting male

         24  attention.  So in addition to dealing with the pain

         25  of loss, we have to deal with the problem of being
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          2  discriminated against in this way and our daughters

          3  being discriminated against in this way. It is a

          4  great form of discrimination against all of the

          5  women who have been killed.  Those are the easy

          6  answers that the authorities give us.  They tell us

          7  that we didn't know who our daughters were hanging

          8  out with.  We didn't know who their friends were and

          9  that supposedly gives someone the right to

         10  assassinate them.  Many mothers are in the same

         11  position with the suffering the same pain caused by

         12  this impunity.  We cannot face the murderers of our

         13  daughters.  We can't see that they pay for the crime

         14  that they've committed.  There is no justice in

         15  Juarez for anyone.  It cannot be possible that the

         16  families are responsible for all of this.  All of

         17  the young women who have been killed come from poor

         18  backgrounds. No rich girl has disappeared from

         19  Juarez.  The majority of the victims were

         20  maquiladora workers.  All lived with little

         21  resources, few resources in neighborhoods where

         22  there isn't even electricity or light, where one has

         23  to walk a great distance in order to catch the bus

         24  to work.  I'm telling you this because I worked in a

         25  maquila for eight years before my daughter was
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          2  killed.  After that, I couldn't work anymore and I

          3  left.  The last body of a killed woman was found on

          4  October 7th.  These killings are no longer

          5  noteworthy in Juarez.  They say the women are at

          6  fault and the victims are at fault because they were

          7  drug addicts and in doing this, the state evades

          8  it's responsibility for the climate of impunity.  We

          9  live in fear because many of us still have other

         10  daughters and what can we hope for.  There is no

         11  security in the schools.  We really want to see

         12  justice and we want the perpetrators of these crimes

         13  to be punished for what they've done to us.  It's a

         14  great pain that they bring to us because they really

         15  end our lives.  What keeps me alive is the struggle

         16  for my granddaughter to find out if she's alive.

         17  All of the mothers are equally angry and all are

         18  want (sic) justice.  It is very difficult and very

         19  painful for us to continue to live like this with

         20  the pain of knowing of what our loss and that's why

         21  we're involved in this struggle.  We want the

         22  government of our state to take responsibility here

         23  and to take responsibility to take on action and not

         24  tell us things like, "well, nine years have passed

         25  so what can we possibly do?"  They let the key
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          2  moments pass in these investigations and lost all of

          3  the important evidence.  I would like to give you my

          4  thanks.  I really can't speak anymore.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

          6  much for that testimony and thank you, Coco Fusco,

          7  for your translation.  It's very disturbing to hear

          8  this story and to hear the others that we heard

          9  during the press conference earlier and it just, I

         10  think, heightens the, our need as the City Council

         11  to do all that we can within our capacity to help

         12  end the killings and also to bring to justice those

         13  who were responsible for the killings even as far

         14  back as nine years ago for your granddaughter so we

         15  are here, we are diligent.  We're so happy that

         16  you're here giving is what is very difficult

         17  testimony for you to give in a public setting and we

         18  appreciate, we appreciate you having the strength

         19  and courage to come forward.

         20                 MS. AGUILAR: Thank you again.  It's

         21  very painful for me.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.  You

         23  may begin your testimony.

         24                 MS. CARDENAS (Through the

         25  interpreter): She's going to speak briefly because
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          2  she feels that after hearing Soledad, there's really

          3  not that much more to say and that she's here on

          4  behalf of human rights groups but also as a woman

          5  and a mother. I've never encountered a situation

          6  like the one in Juarez.  It's a nightmare for me

          7  that I keep thinking that it's going to end and it

          8  just keeps going on.  We applaud, I applaud your

          9  efforts.  They're very brave and at this moment,

         10  many, many young women in Juarez and Chihuahua are

         11  in danger.  She wants to add that the Mexican

         12  government has said that they have taken action and

         13  that it is true that some people have been detained

         14  and their confessions have been extracted using

         15  torture and that this is, unfortunately, a common

         16  practice.  So, in addition to the mothers suffering

         17  and the victims of the murders, there are other

         18  victims who are imprisoned without there being any

         19  legitimate proof of their responsibility for these

         20  crimes.  That's what I would like to add, thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just have one

         22  question. The name of Ms. Aguilar is Soledad which

         23  is Solitude.  It made me think and I'm very sorry

         24  about that.  The question is, Ms. Aguilar indicated

         25  to me prior to coming here the situation about her

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  granddaughter.  Her granddaughter born and 24 days

          3  after it was born, it was taken by the people who

          4  killed her daughter.  The government of Mexico

          5  refused to acknowledge the birth of this child in

          6  order not to acknowledge that this child had been

          7  killed and therefore the investigation of the child

          8  death or disappear has not happened because they

          9  don't acknowledge the existence of this child.  Can

         10  you speak on that?

         11                 MS. AGUILAR: There is no report on

         12  the disappearance of the baby.  It was not done at

         13  the time of the disappearance of the child.  We

         14  tried to do investigations on our own.  We tried to

         15  see if there were families who had received a child

         16  as a gift.  We left, we brought our report to the

         17  special prosecutor's office. They didn't want to

         18  bother the family.  There still isn't even a birth

         19  certificate for the child.  They can't prove who

         20  that child is who was given to another family but

         21  they, the state will not investigate.  This child is

         22  not registered.  She's eight years old, nine years

         23  old and this problem continues as if nothing were

         24  going on.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Your
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          2  granddaughter has never been acknowledged by the

          3  government to be born?

          4                 MS. AGUILAR: Yes, they do recognize

          5  her birth because Soledad has papers.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Now, but when

          7  you met me you indicated to me (in Spanish).

          8                 MS. AGUILAR: But she's not

          9  registered.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's what I

         11  mean.  Just clarify that, that (in Spanish).

         12                 MS. AGUILAR: No.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Government

         14  doesn't recognize that your grandchild born (sic),

         15  correct? (in Spanish).

         16                 MS. AGUILAR: No, they do not

         17  recognize because there is no registration of the

         18  child.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: (In Spanish.)

         20                 MS. AGUILAR: Yes and for that reason

         21  they deny the need --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And for that

         23  reason they refuse to investigate that this

         24  operation of your granddaughter.

         25                 MS. AGUILAR: Yes.

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Any other

          3  questions from the Committee?  Again, I thank you

          4  both for giving what is very difficult testimony and

          5  there's, you've gone through things that no one

          6  should ever have to go through and we stand here in

          7  solidarity with you as a Council and we will

          8  continue to work on this issue and until, until we

          9  find a satisfactory conclusion but thank you for

         10  being here.

         11                 MS. AGUILAR: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: The next panel,

         13  Ariana Stahmer --

         14                 MS. FUSCO: Excuse me, should I read

         15  the testimony that I have?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Oh, I'm sorry.

         17  Please forgive me, go ahead.

         18                 MS. FUSCO: That's okay.  I'm, I was

         19  asked by another organization of mothers and

         20  families of the disappeared based in Juarez (in

         21  Spanish) which means Bring our Daughters Home to

         22  read a statement on their behalf because they don't

         23  have a representative here today.

         24                 Bring our Daughters Home is an

         25  organization made up of families and friends of
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          2  disappeared and murdered young women in Juarez.  The

          3  group began it's activities in February 2001 with a

          4  series of public protests that were provoked by a

          5  sense of impotence and indignation in addition to

          6  the pain of loss of a loved one under tragic

          7  circumstances, as was the disappearance and

          8  subsequent murder Lilia Alejandra Garcia Andrade,

          9  who after suffering torture for five days, was

         10  strangled and her body was tossed into a vacant lot.

         11    She was only 17 years old at the time of death and

         12  left two small children.

         13                 The phenomenon of femicide in Juarez

         14  and Chihuahua City is the product of a number of

         15  political and economic factors and it will not be

         16  resolved by the many errors committed by those in

         17  power.

         18  What are the principal problems?

         19  Number one, the sense of responsibility for dealing

         20  with this problem gets lost because there are three

         21  public prosecutor offices and a special commission

         22  assigned to it.  While the task is shared, each

         23  individual only sees and deals with his or her part

         24  of it and thus the sense of the totality of the

         25  problem gets completely lost.
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          2  Number two, there are limitations produced by the

          3  competition between different levels of law

          4  enforcement such as the municipal, the state and the

          5  federal police.  These do not allow federal

          6  authorities to attend to the cases.  This is also

          7  the issue of, there is also the issue of national

          8  sovereignty that is used to block the involvement of

          9  the FBI in the investigations.

         10                 Point three, the possibility that

         11  drug traffickers are involved with the Commission on

         12  the murders which is linked to the generalized

         13  corruption that permeates all level of law

         14  enforcement.

         15                 Point four, the authorities do not

         16  carry out their functions officially, efficiently.

         17  81 public officials have been cited for negligence

         18  in the state of Chihuahua on this issue.

         19  Point five, The total lack of effectiveness of the

         20  authorities in the face of the assassinations.  We

         21  are plagued by a lack of conclusive investigations,

         22  a lack of due process and the failure to punish the

         23  perpetrators and this has generated a climate of

         24  impunity.

         25  Point six, there are no conclusive figures regarding
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          2  the assassinated and disappeared women in Juarez.  I

          3  would add to this that Amnesty International now

          4  reports 417 deaths though a journalist, Diana

          5  Washington Valdez, who has been following the case,

          6  reports 431 deaths.  Bring our Daughters Home (in

          7  Spanish) reports 470 murders.

          8  Seven, the criteria used by the authorities to

          9  determine that a case has been resolved are very

         10  poor.  All that is required is that the stage of

         11  investigation be closed and the majority of cases

         12  end this way.  This assumes that the public ministry

         13  knows about the cases and that in the investigation,

         14  it should have served as authority, judge and

         15  participant. What are the responses of the State to

         16  our struggle?

         17                 One, the federal government appointed

         18  Guadalupe Morfin Otero as the special commissioner

         19  to eradicate the violence against women in Juarez.

         20  Nonetheless, despite her great efforts, her powers

         21  and resources are limited because she only has moral

         22  authority and her job is to coordinate and promote

         23  the efforts of the government institutions.

         24  Two, at the same time, a special prosecutor for

         25  women, murders of women in Juarez was appointed but
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          2  this person does not deal with the cases that do not

          3  fall within purview of federal law.  Even though a

          4  large number of the cases would fall into this

          5  category, the current files on the cases do not have

          6  the data that would prove this and thus these cases

          7  cannot be considered federal crimes.  In other

          8  cases, the statute of limitations has already passed

          9  or is about to pass.

         10  Three, the state government created the Chihuahua

         11  Women's Institute.  It's director has devoted most

         12  of her efforts to denigrating the work of our

         13  organizations and has promoted actions to demand

         14  that all non- governmental organizations be

         15  terminated.

         16  Four, the support offered through this institute has

         17  served as a form of manipulation of the families of

         18  the disappeared.

         19                 Five, no public officials have been

         20  investigated or punished despite the fact that the

         21  special prosecutor produced a list of 81 negligent

         22  persons working in the Prosecutor's Office and the

         23  Attorney General's Office.

         24                 The response of the state attorney

         25  general's office was to reduce the figure to 54 and
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          2  subsequently mention that only six would be

          3  registered, all of who belong to the PAN party

          4  management of the state government.  The public

          5  officials are not only not punished but they are

          6  protected by having positions of greater authority.

          7                 On the question of negligence, when

          8  the mothers go to the authorities to report a

          9  disappearance, they are refused until 72 hours have

         10  passed.  Many women abducted are not killed

         11  immediately but this delay makes their recovery

         12  almost impossible.

         13                 Two, each term government blames the

         14  prior administration for not having made advances.

         15                 Three, the authorities blame the

         16  families and even the victims, suggesting that the

         17  murdered women led double lives or were prostitutes.

         18                 Four, there are cases that have

         19  remained open or that have not been attended to

         20  since 1993.

         21                 Five, the government ignores the

         22  recommendations made in reports from international

         23  human rights groups including those made by Amnesty

         24  International.

         25                 Six, innocent people are tortured to
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          2  extract confessions from them about crimes that they

          3  did not commit.

          4                 Seven, evidence is lost.

          5                 Eight, investigations are not carried

          6  out.  In the files, there are only records of court

          7  appearances.

          8                 Nine, the murderers have not been

          9  tried or punished.

         10                 Ten, bodies are returned to families

         11  without complete investigation.

         12                 Eleven, families fighting for justice

         13  are intimidated and receive death threats, as are

         14  those who defend human rights in Mexico.

         15                 Twelve, organizations that bring

         16  attention to the problem and spread information

         17  outside the country are disdained as is the case of

         18  Bring Our Daughters Home.

         19                 Thirteen, finally, with things in

         20  such a state, there is no way that the government of

         21  Mexico can claim that anything has been resolved,

         22  much less feel proud of itself. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Okay, that

         24  pretty much says it all.  We have no questions.

         25  Thank you.  Oh, Council Member Jennings.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Good

          3  morning, good afternoon, the murders that are taking

          4  place, are you suggesting that they are political or

          5  they're criminal?

          6                 MS. FUSCO: It's, as far as I

          7  understand it, it's unclear in many cases who is

          8  actually the perpetrator of the murders.  Although

          9  it's understood that there are multiple

         10  perpetrators.  Some 100 of the 470 cases have

         11  evidence of sexual crime connected with the murders.

         12    In other words, evidence of rape and torture

         13  connected with the murders.  It's important to keep

         14  in mind that several of the bodies have not been

         15  recovered and that also when some remains are found,

         16  they're in such a state that it is really impossible

         17  to do a full autopsy.  You find body parts for

         18  example, or bodies in such a state of decay that

         19  such a thorough investigation would be impossible.

         20  However, DNA testing is possible and it is not

         21  carried out or if it is carried out, it is not

         22  carried out properly so many families are concerned

         23  that they're receiving remains and that those

         24  remains may not be those of their loved one.

         25  Besides that however, there's a kind of two pronged
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          2  effort going on here from the grass roots

          3  organizations. One is to address the question of who

          4  is directly responsible for the murders and the

          5  disappearance and the other is the question of the

          6  climate of impunity and the role of the state in

          7  contributing or creating that climate of impunity.

          8  By this, I mean, why are there no proper

          9  investigations?  How does corruption within the

         10  state and federal police and the local city police

         11  together with corruption at all levels of government

         12  going up to the President's office in Mexico

         13  contribute to the failure to respond to the families

         14  and their demands for proper investigations, for

         15  searches for their daughters, etcetera, etcetera.

         16  So there's a question of the role of the government

         17  and the role of corruption on the one hand and the

         18  direct question of who is killing these women.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I have a

         20  final question and I have one after that regarding

         21  the possibility of a serial killer. Do you think

         22  that, is there any evidence that may lead you to

         23  believe that there may be serial killers involved in

         24  these crimes?

         25                 MS. FUSCO: What I have been told by
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          2  the organizations working on this inquadis

          3  (phonetic) is that, as I mentioned before, some of

          4  the bodies that have been found show evidence of sex

          5  crimes in addition to murder.  What's unclear is how

          6  many murderers there are.  The theories at this

          7  point on the perpetrators relate those particular

          8  instances with drug trafficking rings.  The

          9  abduction of these women is suspected to be

         10  connected with drug traffickers who have secret

         11  meetings, orgies, all kinds weird activities and

         12  that these women are brought to them as prizes, as

         13  war booty and that because of their connections to

         14  law enforcement and to government at the highest

         15  levels, they're being protected.  That is a theory

         16  that has been put forth both by Diana Washington

         17  Valdez, who is a journalist from the El Paso Times

         18  who has been following this story and by -- Ramirez,

         19  who works for El Periodico Reforma in Mexico City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: You

         21  mentioned that, Juarez is very close to the U.S.

         22  Border, is that right?

         23                 MS. FUSCO: Yes, it is directly across

         24  the border from El Paso.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: And you
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          2  mentioned that the FBI tried to get involved, that

          3  usually suggests to me that the FBI may consider

          4  that some of these crimes may be related to crimes

          5  that have also taken place on the other side of the

          6  USA --

          7                 MS. FUSCO: Yes, and there --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: --

          9  Particularly regarding the FBI is usually involved

         10  in serial killings and I know, within Texas and New

         11  Mexico and California, you know, from my law

         12  enforcement background, that there is quite a number

         13  of unsolved and serial killings similar to what's

         14  taking place in your part of, in your side of the

         15  border.  What's your take on the FBI's involvement?

         16  What information have you gotten from the FBI

         17  regarding serial killings?

         18                 MS. FUSCO: As I understand it, there

         19  are several reasons why the FBI is interested in the

         20  cases.  One reason is because there are Americans

         21  who have been killed in Juarez who form part of

         22  this.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay.

         24                 MS. FUSCO: Another reason for the

         25  FBI's involvement is because they are conducting
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          2  continuous investigations on drug trafficking and

          3  they, in their efforts to ascertain who's

          4  responsible for drug trafficking, they come across

          5  evidence of these crimes on both sides of the

          6  border.  The third reason is because many of the

          7  activists involved in this struggle have been trying

          8  to get the FBI involved in helping law enforcement

          9  in Mexico to do proper investigations.  I attended a

         10  conference last year at UCLA in which members of the

         11  El Paso Police, for example, who have been trying to

         12  provide support to the police in Juarez so that they

         13  can learn or at least to, will use what they may

         14  already know which is how to conduct proper

         15  investigations at the scene of a crime. This is the

         16  ways in which the FBI has attempted to get involved.

         17  Retired FBI agents have given workshops to Mexican

         18  law enforcement officials on DNA testing and how to

         19  conduct proper investigations but the fact of the

         20  matter is that a poor person's life is not worth

         21  very much and that there are people at very high

         22  levels of government and law enforcement who have a

         23  direct interest in not investigating properly, in

         24  not investigating these murders and in not following

         25  the trail of responsibility into government and all
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          2  the way to the top and that is what is creating the

          3  climate of impunity.

          4                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: The other fact

          5  is human rights organizations refuse to classify the

          6  crimes because the government in order to minimize

          7  the problem is making this classification in serials

          8  and domestic violence and crimes of passion so the

          9  fact is that all of these theories because there is

         10  no investigation and we really don't know for sure

         11  what is going on is violence against women and the

         12  state, the Mexican government and the state has the

         13  responsibility to for the safety of the women and

         14  that's why we believe that this is a political

         15  problem and --.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         17  much.  Thank you for that, for your testimony.  The

         18  next panel is Ariana Stahmer, Alexander Ward and Ami

         19  Shah.  In the interest of time, I'm asking everyone

         20  on this panel to limit their testimony to three

         21  minutes and I will put on the clock.

         22                 MS. STAHMER: I'm here today as a

         23  representative of Columbia University's chapter of

         24  Amnesty International which has devoted much of it's

         25  energy in the past two years to raising
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          2  consciousness around the disappearances of women in

          3  Juarez and Chihuahua state.  I think it's important

          4  that we all recognize that this issue is both

          5  women's rights issue, a class based crime and above

          6  all a human rights crisis.  We all know the highly

          7  gendered nature of these crimes as well as the

          8  gender- biased response from the Mexican authorities

          9  but it's also important to recognize the degree to

         10  which gender bias is ingrained in the corporations

         11  and the maquilas that are there.  The preference of

         12  women in the workforce, in the maquila industry, is

         13  largely because of a belief that women are more

         14  docile workers and that they will resist company

         15  management and rules less and I think that you see

         16  this gender- biased approach in some of the

         17  reactions to these crimes in a sense that health

         18  courses and safety courses are focused more on

         19  teaching women not to dress provactively than they

         20  are on teaching them actual self defense measures

         21  and I feel that this perpetuates victim blaming, a

         22  sense of victim blaming that's been going on in the

         23  society as a whole.

         24                 According to Amnesty International,

         25  several international conventions including the OAS
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          2  American Convention on Human Rights and the UN

          3  Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against

          4  Women stress the duty of the state to protect, to

          5  practice due diligence and due diligence means that

          6  the state must take reasonable steps to prevent

          7  human rights violations, use the means at it's

          8  disposal to carry out serious investigations,

          9  identify those responsible, impose the appropriate

         10  punishment and insure that the victim receives

         11  adequate reparation but as we have recognized

         12  already here, states are not the only ones

         13  responsible for ensuring the rights of these women.

         14  The corporations who profit off of their labor, who

         15  have infiltrated and drastically altered the cities

         16  that they have moved into, certainly owe something

         17  back to these communities.  Yet, time and time

         18  again, the maquila industry has shirked this

         19  responsibility even going so far as to claim under

         20  NAFTA Chapter 11 regulations, as to file a claim

         21  under NAFTA Chapter 11 regulations in the attempt to

         22  avoid having to decrease profits by adding security

         23  for their workers.

         24                 Resolution 238 gives us the

         25  opportunity to pressure the state to practice due
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          2  diligence and to pressure corporations to respect

          3  the human rights of their employees and to take

          4  active responsibility in ensuring their protection

          5  but I think it's crucial that we also make sure that

          6  in the reactions that these corporations have to

          7  these violent crimes, they are not perpetuating the

          8  cycle of victim blaming that's already been going

          9  on.  Thank you

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.  You

         11  may begin sir.

         12                 MR. WARD: Good afternoon.  Thank you

         13  to the Committee, to the interested citizens of New

         14  York and to our visitors from afar.  My name is

         15  Alexander Ward.  I am a legal fellow with the

         16  Business and Human Rights Department at Amnesty

         17  International USA.  Thank you very much for the

         18  invitation to present the impressions of Amnesty

         19  International on Resolution 238.

         20                 As you know, Amnesty International is

         21  the largest grassroots human rights advocacy

         22  organization in the world, with 350,000 members in

         23  the United States and over 1.5 million members

         24  worldwide.  The Business and Human Rights program at

         25  Amnesty International USA has worked with
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          2  Comptroller Thompson's office, providing information

          3  on companies operating or subcontracting through

          4  maquiladoras in Ciudad Juarez, Mexico and notifying

          5  them of our discussions about how to leverage

          6  corporate influence to protect and promote human

          7  rights there.

          8                 As you know now, since 1993, hundreds

          9  of young women, predominantly poor, from the

         10  Juarez/Chihuahua area have been found murdered and

         11  reported abducted.  In 2003, a report by Amnesty

         12  International documented approximately 370 deaths,

         13  you've heard now that that's a much higher number

         14  and over 400 abductions over ten years.  While many

         15  of the murders are attributed to serial killers and

         16  drug traffickers, reports suggest that a large

         17  portion may be the result of domestic or

         18  relationship- based violence.  Common to all these

         19  kinds of murders is the fact that the authorities

         20  have failed to properly investigate or prosecute

         21  those responsible.  This impunity is cause by and

         22  perpetuates the prevailing attitude that violence

         23  against women is acceptable.

         24                 According to victims' families and

         25  independent reports by Amnesty International and the
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          2  United Nations, neither local nor federal

          3  authorities have effectively investigated the crimes

          4  or held accountable those responsible.  In some

          5  cases for which the authorities have arrested

          6  suspects and claim to have solved the murders, those

          7  claims are in doubt because of police incompetence

          8  and the alleged use of coercion and torture to

          9  elicit confessions. While recent national and

         10  international attention seems to have reduced the

         11  rate of deaths and abductions, the killings continue

         12  as does the failure of authorities to punish

         13  perpetrators or provide justice for the victims'

         14  families.

         15                 Last week, for example, you've heard

         16  that a Mexican court found a bus driver guilty for

         17  eight slayings, yet it was only the second

         18  conviction in the past ten years and even this

         19  conviction has been criticized by civil rights

         20  groups and victims' families and NGO's (phonetic)

         21  within Ciudad Juarez.

         22                 Amnesty International believes that

         23  companies can make a positive contribution towards

         24  ending impunity for the murders of the women in

         25  Juarez.  The Universal Declaration of Human Rights
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          2  calls upon every individual and every organ of

          3  society, which includes companies and businesses

          4  operating there, to promote and protect human rights

          5  and to strive to secure the universal and effective

          6  recognition and observance.

          7                 Many organizations, including ours,

          8  have publicly called upon companies operating in

          9  Juarez to take prompt, effective steps to protect

         10  the safety of their workplace by providing for

         11  security. However, this is only the first step.  If

         12  possible, companies should use their influence as

         13  employers and corporate citizens to call upon

         14  municipal, state and federal officials to genuinely

         15  address the problem at all levels.  This is the only

         16  way to constructively chip away at the culture of

         17  impunity.  This is a culture that permeates into

         18  every layer of this tragic situation. By doing so,

         19  companies can send a powerful message to authorities

         20  that businesses and NGO's and individuals stand

         21  united to support human rights.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.  You

         24  may begin.

         25                 MS. SHAH: Good afternoon.  My name is
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          2  Ami Shah and I'm here on behalf of the National

          3  Organization for Women, sorry, I'm here on behalf of

          4  the National Organization for Women, the New York

          5  City chapter.  Thank for affording us the

          6  opportunity to testify today.  I am here, like

          7  everybody else has mentioned already, to mention the

          8  plight of the women working in Ciudad Juarez and the

          9  injustice these women face on a daily basis is

         10  appalling and it definitely warrants reform.  NOW-

         11  New York City supports the passage of Resolution

         12  238.  We call upon the Comptroller of the City of

         13  New York to develop and enforce these procedures and

         14  we also include disinvestment, if necessary.  That

         15  would ensure that these corporations, which the New

         16  York City pension funds invest into, take

         17  responsibility.

         18  Since 1993, the women workers in Ciudad Juarez have

         19  been forced to deal with the dual dilemma of fear

         20  and survival.  This fear is rooted in fact that the

         21  women have been brutalized and killed while going to

         22  work.  These women have been employed by the

         23  maquiladoras and factories are set up by these U.S.

         24  Fortune 500 companies because of lower labor costs

         25  in Mexico.
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          2                 One appalling fact is that the reason

          3  why women are so brutalized on the way to work is

          4  because they represent a greater portion of

          5  maquiladora workers because the companies pay women

          6  lower wages. We feel at NOW that this alone

          7  qualifies as a violation of basic human rights and

          8  so why should the New York City Council concern

          9  itself with these women's survival?  There's

         10  definitely a responsibility on the behalf of

         11  representing it's constituents that they invest in

         12  companies that uphold values of good corporate

         13  citizenship.  The brutalization of these women

         14  workers in Juarez, young women and old, undergo

         15  horrific risks simply to survive and it's not

         16  acceptable to NOW and we are sure it should not be

         17  acceptable to the New York City Council.  It should

         18  not be acceptable to the U.S. Fortune 500 companies

         19  either.  New York City, through it's investment

         20  power, is in a position to influence the relevant

         21  U.S. Corporations and unless the City uses it's

         22  economic power, little will improve for these women

         23  and girls in Juarez.

         24                 NOW- New York City is the founding

         25  chapter of the National Organization for Women and
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          2  we request the New York City Council to ensure that

          3  U.S. Companies provide conditions under which these

          4  women are able to work without putting their bodies

          5  in harm's way.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

          7  much panel.  I think all the testimony you gave is

          8  pretty much self explanatory. We appreciate it and

          9  it does better help us to handle this situation.

         10  Thank you.  Next panel, the final panel of the

         11  afternoon, Diana Perez, Amnesty International and

         12  Hortencia Colorado from New York Zapatistas.  Okay,

         13  so Hortencia had to leave so Diana, you're on your

         14  own.

         15                 MS. PEREZ: Thank you.  My name is

         16  Diana Perez and I'm here on behalf of the New York

         17  City Women's Human Rights Action Team, a group in

         18  Amnesty International and I will keep my testimony

         19  brief and succinct.

         20  Last year, Irene Kahn, the Executive Director of

         21  Amnesty International paid a visit to Mexico, where

         22  not only did she visit Ciudad Juarez, but she also

         23  visited with President Vicente Fox where she

         24  presented to him the following report, Mexico-

         25  Intolerable Killings; Ten Years of Abductions and
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          2  Murders in Ciudad Juarez and Chihuahua.  Although

          3  this report, like I said, was written last year,

          4  please be aware that the numbers I'm citing are from

          5  last year but that they are rising in terms of the

          6  number of murders of women.

          7                 According to information received by

          8  Amnesty International, in the last ten years,

          9  approximately 370 women have been murdered, of which

         10  at least 137 were sexually assaulted prior to death.

         11  In a significant number of cases, the brutality with

         12  which the assailants abduct and murder the women

         13  goes further than the act of killing and provides

         14  one of the most brutal examples of violence against

         15  women.

         16                 Most of the women, some with children

         17  to support, come from poor backgrounds and have to

         18  take long bus journeys to reach their places of work

         19  or study.  Sometimes they have no choice but to walk

         20  alone across unlit wasteground and streets where

         21  they are at greater risk of possible attacks.

         22  Several of the missing or murdered women were

         23  employed in maquilas.

         24                 Waitresses, students or women working

         25  in the informal economy have also been targeted by
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          2  the assailants.  In short, young women with no power

          3  in society whose deaths have no political costs for

          4  the local authorities. Over the years, the pressure

          5  brought to bear by the families and non-

          6  governmental organizations in their calls for the

          7  crimes to be clarified have succeeded in attracting

          8  national and international attention.  However, the

          9  failure of the competent authorities to take action

         10  to investigate these crimes whether through

         11  indifference, lack of will, negligence or inability

         12  has been blatant over the last ten years.  Amnesty

         13  International has documented unjustifiable delays in

         14  the initial investigations.  The period when there

         15  is a greater chance of finding the woman alive and

         16  identifying those responsible and the failure to

         17  follow up evidence and witness statements which

         18  could be crucial.

         19                 The fact that the state authorities

         20  have not managed to clear up or eradicate these

         21  crimes has led to much speculation about who might

         22  be behind the murders.  There is talk of the

         23  involvement of drug traffickers, organized crime, of

         24  people living in the United States, as well as

         25  rumors that those responsible are being protected.
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          2  There are also theories about the motives being

          3  connected with Satanism, the illegal trade in

          4  pornographic films and the alleged trafficking of

          5  organs.

          6                 However, at the moment, since the

          7  investigations have so far not been able to confirm

          8  any of them, such hypotheses are simply helping to

          9  fuel even greater fear among Chihuahuan society.

         10  Given the scale of these crimes, Amnesty

         11  International believes that in order to prevent,

         12  punish and stop the abduction and murder of women in

         13  Ciudad Juarez and Chihuahua, as well as the abuses

         14  of power which have hindered the earlier

         15  investigations, it is essential for mechanisms to be

         16  set up to ensure proper coordination between all

         17  authorities at the municipal, state and federal

         18  levels. Amnesty International has repeatedly called

         19  for a profound structural reform of the justice

         20  system to be undertaken in order for it's

         21  investigative procedures and capabilities to be able

         22  to provide full access to justice for the victims

         23  and a fair trial for the accused by insuring that

         24  all their rights are guaranteed.

         25                 The inability of the state
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          2  authorities to address these violent offenses

          3  against women also means that Mexico is in breach of

          4  international conventions to which it is a party,

          5  including standards that are specifically aimed at

          6  eliminating violence against women.

          7  In Amnesty International's opinion the following

          8  recommendations need to be fully and effectively

          9  implemented:

         10                 One, the federal, state and municipal

         11  authorities must publicly recognize and condemn the

         12  abductions and murders of women in Ciudad Juarez and

         13  Chihuahua and stress the dignity of the victims and

         14  the legitimacy of the relatives efforts to obtain

         15  truth, justice and reparations.

         16                 Two, the state and federal

         17  authorities must ensure that prompt, thorough,

         18  effective, coordinated and impartial investigations

         19  into all cases of the abduction and murder of women

         20  in Chihuahua State are carried out and given the

         21  necessary resources.

         22                 Three, the federal government must

         23  urgently address society's demand regarding who has

         24  jurisdiction to investigate the abductions and

         25  deaths of women in Chihuahua State so that
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          2  effective, quick and thorough investigations backed

          3  up with resources, experts and the full cooperation

          4  of all other authorities can take place.

          5                 Four, the state must establish an

          6  urgent search mechanism so that, in the event that a

          7  woman is reported missing, a criminal investigation

          8  can be opened under the supervision of a judge with

          9  full powers to determine the whereabouts of the

         10  missing person and to follow up any relevant leads

         11  in order to determine whether an offense has been

         12  committed.

         13                 Five, any negligence, failure to act,

         14  complicity or tolerance on the part of state

         15  officials in connection with the abductions and

         16  murders of women in Chihuahua State must be

         17  investigated and punished.  Any state official

         18  suspected of committing serious human rights abuses

         19  such as torture or covering up abductions must be

         20  removed from his or her post pending the outcome of

         21  an impartial investigation.

         22                 Six, the federal, state and municipal

         23  governments must allocate sufficient resources to

         24  improving public safety in the state and preventing

         25  violence against women in the community including
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          2  buying and selling lighting and setting up security

          3  patrols.

          4                 Seven, the Mexican state must insure

          5  that the maquilas meet their legal obligations to

          6  their employees with special emphasis on the

          7  physical, sexual and mental well being of the female

          8  workers.

          9                 Eight, the authorities must ensure

         10  that in line with the U.N. Declaration on Human

         11  Rights Defenders, defenders of women's rights and

         12  relatives associates who are working to put an end

         13  to violence against women, can carry out their

         14  legitimate work without fear of reprisals and with

         15  the full cooperations of the authorities.

         16                 And finally, nine, the authorities

         17  must implement the international recommendations

         18  addressed to Mexico since 1998 by the special

         19  repertoires of the InterAmerican Commission on Human

         20  Rights and the United Nations as well as by the U.N.

         21  Committee on the elimination of all forms of

         22  discrimination against women.  All of whom have

         23  studied the cases of the women from Ciudad Juarez

         24  and Chihuahua.  That is all.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very
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          2  much.  Yes.  A final statement from Council Member

          3  Lopez.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want to

          5  thank all of the women who have reached out to me in

          6  regard to this issue and I want to make clear that I

          7  am not going to finish here, that, as I promise you

          8  when we begin working together, this will be the

          9  beginning of what we're going to do in the City

         10  Council and we will find the people who have done

         11  this.  Miss Soledad, I just want you to know that I

         12  am not going to stop.  I'm going to continue and one

         13  of the things that we're going to do is to force the

         14  Mexican government to recognize the birth of your

         15  grandchild.  That's the minimum thing that we can do

         16  here.  Thank you very much for all of you to come

         17  here and thank you very much to Council Member

         18  Serrano which perhaps we're going to lose him for

         19  good reasons.  He's going to become a Senator.  I

         20  can predict the future.  November the 2nd and we

         21  will miss him here.  Thank you for having this

         22  hearing and you're an angel.  Thank you to all of

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you

         25  Councilwoman Lopez for bringing this issue to the
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          2  Committee.  Your work, your tireless work over the

          3  years on social justice issues really speaks to the

          4  fabric of who you are and this is yet another

          5  example and I want to thank everyone.  All those who

          6  came and provided testimony, thank you very much for

          7  being here.  I'd like to thank Mari DePedro for my

          8  Committee, Rick Arbelo and Regina Poreda as well.

          9  As well as my Chief of Staff, George Torres and all

         10  the Committee members for being here.  This hearing

         11  is closed.

         12                 (Hearing adjourned at 2:21 p.m.)
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